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decision on the continuation or revoca-
tion of the affirmative 18(e) determina-
tion. 

(b) The decision revoking the deter-
mination shall also reflect the Assist-
ant Secretary’s determination that 
concurrent Federal enforcement and 
standards authority will be reinstated 
within the State for a reasonable time 
until he has withdrawn his approval of 
the plan, or any separable portion 
thereof, pursuant to part 1955 of this 
chapter or he has determined that the 
State has met the criteria for an 18(e) 
determination pursuant to the applica-
ble procedures of this subpart. 

§ 1902.53 Publication of decisions. 

All decisions on the reconsideration 
of an affirmative 18(e) determination 
shall be published in the FEDERAL REG-
ISTER. 

PART 1903—INSPECTIONS, CITA-
TIONS AND PROPOSED PEN-
ALTIES 

Sec. 
1903.1 Purpose and scope. 
1903.2 Posting of notice; availability of the 

Act, regulations and applicable stand-
ards. 

1903.3 Authority for inspection. 
1903.4 Objection to inspection. 
1903.5 Entry not a waiver. 
1903.6 Advance notice of inspections. 
1903.7 Conduct of inspections. 
1903.8 Representatives of employers and em-

ployees. 
1903.9 Trade secrets. 
1903.10 Consultation with employees. 
1903.11 Complaints by employees. 
1903.12 Inspection not warranted; informal 

review. 
1903.13 Imminent danger. 
1903.14 Citations; notices of de minimis vio-

lations; policy regarding employee res-
cue activities. 

1903.14a Petitions for modification of abate-
ment date. 

1903.15 Proposed penalties. 
1903.16 Posting of citations. 
1903.17 Employer and employee contests be-

fore the Review Commission. 
1903.18 Failure to correct a violation for 

which a citation has been issued. 
1903.19 Abatement verification. 
1903.20 Informal conferences. 
1903.21 State administration. 
1903.22 Definitions. 

AUTHORITY: 29 U.S.C. 657; Secretary of La-
bor’s Order No. 8–2020 (85 FR 58393); and 5 
U.S.C. 553. 

SOURCE: 36 FR 17850, Sept. 4, 1971, unless 
otherwise noted. 

§ 1903.1 Purpose and scope. 

The Williams-Steiger Occupational 
Safety and Health Act of 1970 (84 Stat. 
1590 et seq., 29 U.S.C. 651 et seq.) re-
quires, in part, that every employer 
covered under the Act furnish to his 
employees employment and a place of 
employment which are free from recog-
nized hazards that are causing or are 
likely to cause death or serious phys-
ical harm to his employees. The Act 
also requires that employers comply 
with occupational safety and health 
standards promulgated under the Act, 
and that employees comply with stand-
ards, rules, regulations and orders 
issued under the Act which are applica-
ble to their own actions and conduct. 
The Act authorizes the Department of 
Labor to conduct inspections, and to 
issue citations and proposed penalties 
for alleged violations. The Act, under 
section 20(b), also authorizes the Sec-
retary of Health, Education, and Wel-
fare to conduct inspections and to 
question employers and employees in 
connection with research and other re-
lated activities. The Act contains pro-
visions for adjudication of violations, 
periods prescribed for the abatement of 
violations, and proposed penalties by 
the Occupational Safety and Health 
Review Commission, if contested by an 
employer or by an employee or author-
ized representative of employees, and 
for judicial review. The purpose of this 
part 1903 is to prescribe rules and to set 
forth general policies for enforcement 
of the inspection, citation, and pro-
posed penalty provisions of the Act. In 
situations where this part 1903 sets 
forth general enforcement policies 
rather than substantive or procedural 
rules, such policies may be modified in 
specific circumstances where the Sec-
retary or his designee determines that 
an alternative course of action would 
better serve the objectives of the Act. 
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§ 1903.2 Posting of notice; availability 
of the Act, regulations and applica-
ble standards. 

(a)(1) Each employer shall post and 
keep posted a notice or notices, to be 
furnished by the Occupational Safety 
and Health Administration, U.S. De-
partment of Labor, informing employ-
ees of the protections and obligations 
provided for in the Act, and that for as-
sistance and information, including 
copies of the Act and of specific safety 
and health standards, employees 
should contact the employer or the 
nearest office of the Department of 
Labor. Such notice or notices shall be 
posted by the employer in each estab-
lishment in a conspicuous place or 
places where notices to employees are 
customarily posted. Each employer 
shall take steps to insure that such no-
tices are not altered, defaced, or cov-
ered by other material. 

(2) Where a State has an approved 
poster informing employees of their 
protections and obligations as defined 
in § 1902.9 of this chapter, such poster, 
when posted by employers covered by 
the State plan, shall constitute compli-
ance with the posting requirements of 
section 8(c)(1) of the Act. Employers 
whose operations are not within the 
issues covered by the State plan must 
comply with paragraph (a)(1) of this 
section. 

(3) Reproductions or facsimiles of 
such Federal or State posters shall 
constitute compliance with the posting 
requirements of section 8(c)(1) of the 
Act where such reproductions or fac-
similes are at least 81⁄2 inches by 14 
inches, and the printing size is at least 
10 pt. Whenever the size of the poster 
increases, the size of the print shall 
also increase accordingly. The caption 
or heading on the poster shall be in 
large type, generally not less than 36 
pt. 

(b) Establishment means a single phys-
ical location where business is con-
ducted or where services or industrial 
operations are performed. (For exam-
ple: A factory, mill, store, hotel, res-
taurant, movie theatre, farm, ranch, 
bank, sales office, warehouse, or cen-
tral administrative office.) Where dis-
tinctly separate activities are per-
formed at a single physical location 
(such as contract construction activi-

ties from the same physical location as 
a lumber yard), each activity shall be 
treated as a separate physical estab-
lishment, and a separate notice or no-
tices shall be posted in each such es-
tablishment, to the extent that such 
notices have been furnished by the Oc-
cupational Safety and Health Adminis-
tration, U.S. Department of Labor. 
Where employers are engaged in activi-
ties which are physically dispersed, 
such as agriculture, construction, 
transportation, communications, and 
electric, gas and sanitary services, the 
notice or notices required by this sec-
tion shall be posted at the location to 
which employees report each day. 
Where employees do not usually work 
at, or report to, a single establishment, 
such as longshoremen, traveling sales-
men, technicians, engineers, etc., such 
notice or notices shall be posted at the 
location from which the employees op-
erate to carry out their activities. In 
all cases, such notice or notices shall 
be posted in accordance with the re-
quirements of paragraph (a) of this sec-
tion. 

(c) Copies of the Act, all regulations 
published in this chapter and all appli-
cable standards will be available at all 
Area Offices of the Occupational Safety 
and Health Administration, U.S. De-
partment of Labor. If an employer has 
obtained copies of these materials, he 
shall make them available upon re-
quest to any employee or his author-
ized representative for review in the es-
tablishment where the employee is em-
ployed on the same day the request is 
made or at the earliest time mutually 
convenient to the employee or his au-
thorized representative and the em-
ployer. 

(d) Any employer failing to comply 
with the provisions of this section shall 
be subject to citation and penalty in 
accordance with the provisions of 
§ 1903.15(d). 

[36 FR 17850, Sept. 4, 1971, as amended at 39 
FR 39036, Nov. 5, 1974; 80 FR 49904, Aug. 18, 
2015; 81 FR 43452, July 1, 2016] 

§ 1903.3 Authority for inspection. 
(a) Compliance Safety and Health Of-

ficers of the Department of Labor are 
authorized to enter without delay and 
at reasonable times any factory, plant, 
establishment, construction site, or 
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other area, workplace or environment 
where work is performed by an em-
ployee of an employer; to inspect and 
investigate during regular working 
hours and at other reasonable times, 
and within reasonable limits and in a 
reasonable manner, any such place of 
employment, and all pertinent condi-
tions, structures, machines, apparatus, 
devices, equipment and materials 
therein; to question privately any em-
ployer, owner, operator, agent or em-
ployee; and to review records required 
by the Act and regulations published in 
this chapter, and other records which 
are directly related to the purpose of 
the inspection. Representatives of the 
Secretary of Health, Education, and 
Welfare are authorized to make inspec-
tions and to question employers and 
employees in order to carry out the 
functions of the Secretary of Health, 
Education, and Welfare under the Act. 
Inspections conducted by Department 
of Labor Compliance Safety and Health 
Officers and representatives of the Sec-
retary of Health, Education, and Wel-
fare under section 8 of the Act and pur-
suant to this part 1903 shall not affect 
the authority of any State to conduct 
inspections in accordance with agree-
ments and plans under section 18 of the 
Act. 

(b) Prior to inspecting areas con-
taining information which is classified 
by an agency of the United States Gov-
ernment in the interest of national se-
curity, Compliance Safety and Health 
Officers shall have obtained the appro-
priate security clearance. 

§ 1903.4 Objection to inspection. 
(a) Upon a refusal to permit the Com-

pliance Safety and Health Officer, in 
exercise of his official duties, to enter 
without delay and at reasonable times 
any place of employment or any place 
therein, to inspect, to review records, 
or to question any employer, owner, 
operator, agent, or employee, in ac-
cordance with § 1903.3 or to permit a 
representative of employees to accom-
pany the Compliance Safety and 
Health Officer during the physical in-
spection of any workplace in accord-
ance with § 1903.8, the Safety and 
Health Officer shall terminate the in-
spection or confine the inspection to 
other areas, conditions, structures, ma-

chines, apparatus, devices, equipment, 
materials, records, or interviews con-
cerning which no objection is raised. 
The Compliance Safety and Health Of-
ficer shall endeavor to ascertain the 
reason for such refusal, and shall im-
mediately report the refusal and the 
reason therefor to the Area Director. 
The Area Director shall consult with 
the Regional Solicitor, who shall take 
appropriate action, including compul-
sory process, if necessary. 

(b) Compulsory process shall be 
sought in advance of an attempted in-
spection or investigation if, in the 
judgment of the Area Director and the 
Regional Solicitor, circumstances exist 
which make such preinspection process 
desirable or necessary. Some examples 
of circumstances in which it may be 
desirable or necessary to seek compul-
sory process in advance of an attempt 
to inspect or investigate include (but 
are not limited to): 

(1) When the employer’s past practice 
either implicitly or explicitly puts the 
Secretary on notice that a warrantless 
inspection will not be allowed; 

(2) When an inspection is scheduled 
far from the local office and procuring 
a warrant prior to leaving to conduct 
the inspection would avoid, in case of 
refusal of entry, the expenditure of sig-
nificant time and resources to return 
to the office, obtain a warrant and re-
turn to the worksite; 

(3) When an inspection includes the 
use of special equipment or when the 
presence of an expert or experts is 
needed in order to properly conduct the 
inspection, and procuring a warrant 
prior to an attempt to inspect would 
alleviate the difficulties or costs en-
countered in coordinating the avail-
ability of such equipment or expert. 

(c) With the approval of the Regional 
Administrator and the Regional Solic-
itor, compulsory process may also be 
obtained by the Area Director or his 
designee. 

(d) For purposes of this section, the 
term compulsory process shall mean 
the institution of any appropriate ac-
tion, including ex parte application for 
an inspection warrant or its equiva-
lent. Ex parte inspection warrants shall 
be the preferred form of compulsory 
process in all circumstances where 
compulsory process is relied upon to 
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seek entry to a workplace under this 
section. 

[45 FR 65923, Oct. 3, 1980] 

§ 1903.5 Entry not a waiver. 
Any permission to enter, inspect, re-

view records, or question any person, 
shal not imply or be conditioned upon 
a waiver of any cause of action, cita-
tion, or penalty under the Act. Compli-
ance Safety and Health Officers are not 
authorized to grant any such waiver. 

§ 1903.6 Advance notice of inspections. 
(a) Advance notice of inspections 

may not be given, except in the fol-
lowing situations: 

(1) In cases of apparent imminent 
danger, to enable the employer to 
abate the danger as quickly as possible; 

(2) In circumstances where the in-
spection can most effectively be con-
ducted after regular business hours or 
where special preparations are nec-
essary for an inspection; 

(3) Where necessary to assure the 
presence of representatives of the em-
ployer and employees or the appro-
priate personnel needed to aid in the 
inspection; and 

(4) In other circumstances where the 
Area Director determines that the giv-
ing of advance notice would enhance 
the probability of an effective and 
thorough inspection. 

(b) In the situations described in 
paragraph (a) of this section, advance 
notice of inspections may be given only 
if authorized by the Area Director, ex-
cept that in cases of apparent immi-
nent danger, advance notice may be 
given by the Compliance Safety and 
Health Officer without such authoriza-
tion if the Area Director is not imme-
diately available. When advance notice 
is given, it shall be the employer’s re-
sponsibility promptly to notify the au-
thorized representative of employees of 
the inspection, if the identity of such 
representative is known to the em-
ployer. (See § 1903.8(b) as to situations 
where there is no authorized represent-
ative of employees.) Upon the request 
of the employer, the Compliance Safe-
ty and Health Officer will inform the 
authorized representative of employees 
of the inspection, provided that the 
employer furnishes the Compliance 
Safety and Health Officer with the 

identity of such representative and 
with such other information as is nec-
essary to enable him promptly to in-
form such representative of the inspec-
tion. An employer who fails to comply 
with his obligation under this para-
graph promptly to inform the author-
ized representative of employees of the 
inspection or to furnish such informa-
tion as is necessary to enable the Com-
pliance Safety and Health Officer 
promptly to inform such representative 
of the inspection, may be subject to ci-
tation and penalty in accordance with 
§ 1903.15(d)(4). Advance notice in any of 
the situations described in paragraph 
(a) of this section shall not be given 
more than 24 hours before the inspec-
tion is scheduled to be conducted, ex-
cept in apparent imminent danger situ-
ations and in other unusual cir-
cumstances. 

(c) The Act provides in section 17(f) 
that any person who gives advance no-
tice of any inspection to be conducted 
under the Act, without authority from 
the Secretary or his designees, shall, 
upon conviction, be punished by fine of 
not more than $1,000 or by imprison-
ment for not more than 6 months, or by 
both. 

[36 FR 17850, Sept. 4, 1971, as amended at 81 
FR 43452, July 1, 2016] 

§ 1903.7 Conduct of inspections. 
(a) Subject to the provisions of 

§ 1903.3, inspections shall take place at 
such times and in such places of em-
ployment as the Area Director or the 
Compliance Safety and Health Officer 
may direct. At the beginning of an in-
spection, Compliance Safety and 
Health Officers shall present their cre-
dentials to the owner, operator, or 
agent in charge at the establishment; 
explain the nature and purpose of the 
inspection; and indicate generally the 
scope of the inspection and the records 
specified in § 1903.3 which they wish to 
review. However, such designation of 
records shall not preclude access to ad-
ditional records specified in § 1903.3. 

(b) Compliance Safety and Health Of-
ficers shall have authority to take en-
vironmental samples and to take or ob-
tain photographs related to the pur-
pose of the inspection, employ other 
reasonable investigative techniques, 
and question privately any employer, 
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owner, operator, agent or employee of 
an establishment. (See § 1903.9 on trade 
secrets.) As used herein, the term em-
ploy other reasonable investigative tech-
niques includes, but is not limited to, 
the use of devices to measure employee 
exposures and the attachment of per-
sonal sampling equipment such as 
dosimeters, pumps, badges and other 
similar devices to employees in order 
to monitor their exposures. 

(c) In taking photographs and sam-
ples, Compliance Safety and Health Of-
ficers shall take reasonable pre-
cautions to insure that such actions 
with flash, spark-producing, or other 
equipment would not be hazardous. 
Compliance Safety and Health Officers 
shall comply with all employer safety 
and health rules and practices at the 
establishment being inspected, and 
they shall wear and use appropriate 
protective clothing and equipment. 

(d) The conduct of inspections shall 
be such as to preclude unreasonable 
disruption of the operations of the em-
ployer’s establishment. 

(e) At the conclusion of an inspec-
tion, the Compliance Safety and Health 
Officer shall confer with the employer 
or his representative and informally 
advise him of any apparent safety or 
health violations disclosed by the in-
spection. During such conference, the 
employer shall be afforded an oppor-
tunity to bring to the attention of the 
Compliance Safety and Health Officer 
any pertinent information regarding 
conditions in the workplace. 

(f) Inspections shall be conducted in 
accordance with the requirements of 
this part. 

[36 FR 17850, Sept. 14, 1971, as amended at 47 
FR 6533, Feb. 12, 1982; 47 FR 55481, Dec. 10, 
1982] 

§ 1903.8 Representatives of employers 
and employees. 

(a) Compliance Safety and Health Of-
ficers shall be in charge of inspections 
and questioning of persons. A rep-
resentative of the employer and a rep-
resentative authorized by his employ-
ees shall be given an opportunity to ac-
company the Compliance Safety and 
Health Officer during the physical in-
spection of any workplace for the pur-
pose of aiding such inspection. A Com-
pliance Safety and Health Officer may 

permit additional employer representa-
tives and additional representatives 
authorized by employees to accompany 
him where he determines that such ad-
ditional representatives will further 
aid the inspection. A different em-
ployer and employee representative 
may accompany the Compliance Safety 
and Health Officer during each dif-
ferent phase of an inspection if this 
will not interfere with the conduct of 
the inspection. 

(b) Compliance Safety and Health Of-
ficers shall have authority to resolve 
all disputes as to who is the represent-
ative authorized by the employer and 
employees for the purpose of this sec-
tion. If there is no authorized rep-
resentative of employees, or if the 
Compliance Safety and Health Officer 
is unable to determine with reasonable 
certainty who is such representative, 
he shall consult with a reasonable 
number of employees concerning mat-
ters of safety and health in the work-
place. 

(c) The representative(s) authorized 
by employees may be an employee of 
the employer or a third party. When 
the representative(s) authorized by em-
ployees is not an employee of the em-
ployer, they may accompany the Com-
pliance Safety and Health Officer dur-
ing the inspection if, in the judgment 
of the Compliance Safety and Health 
Officer, good cause has been shown why 
accompaniment by a third party is rea-
sonably necessary to the conduct of an 
effective and thorough physical inspec-
tion of the workplace (including but 
not limited to because of their relevant 
knowledge, skills, or experience with 
hazards or conditions in the workplace 
or similar workplaces, or language or 
communication skills). 

(d) Compliance Safety and Health Of-
ficers are authorized to deny the right 
of accompaniment under this section 
to any person whose conduct interferes 
with a fair and orderly inspection. The 
right of accompaniment in areas con-
taining trade secrets shall be subject to 
the provisions of § 1903.9(d). With regard 
to information classified by an agency 
of the U.S. Government in the interest 
of national security, only persons au-
thorized to have access to such infor-
mation may accompany a Compliance 
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Safety and Health Officer in areas con-
taining such information. 

[36 FR 17850, Sept. 4, 1971, as amended at 89 
FR 22601, Apr. 1, 2024] 

§ 1903.9 Trade secrets. 

(a) Section 15 of the Act provides: 
‘‘All information reported to or other-
wise obtained by the Secretary or his 
representative in connection with any 
inspection or proceeding under this Act 
which contains or which might reveal a 
trade secret referred to in section 1905 
of title 18 of the United States Code 
shall be considered confidential for the 
purpose of that section, except that 
such information may be disclosed to 
other officers or employees concerned 
with carrying out this Act or when rel-
evant in any proceeding under this Act. 
In any such proceeding the Secretary, 
the Commission, or the court shall 
issue such orders as may be appro-
priate to protect the confidentiality of 
trade secrets.’’ Section 15 of the Act is 
considered a statute within the mean-
ing of section 552(b)(3) of title 5 of the 
United States Code, which exempts 
from the disclosure requirements mat-
ters that are ‘‘specifically exempted 
from disclosure by statute.’’ 

(b) Section 1905 of title 18 of the 
United States Code provides: ‘‘Who-
ever, being an officer or employee of 
the United States or of any department 
or agency thereof, publishes, divulges, 
discloses, or makes known in any man-
ner or to any extent not authorized by 
law any information coming to him in 
the course of his employment or offi-
cial duties or by reason of any exam-
ination or investigation made by, or re-
turn, report or record made to or filed 
with, such department or agency or of-
ficer or employee thereof, which infor-
mation concerns or relates to the trade 
secrets, processes, operations, style of 
work, or apparatus, or to the identity, 
confidential statistical data, amount 
or source of any income, profits, losses, 
or expenditures of any person, firm, 
partnership, corporation, or associa-
tion; or permits any income return or 
copy thereof or any book containing 
any abstract or particulars thereof to 
be seen or examined by any person ex-
cept as provided by law; shall be fined 
not more than $1,000, or imprisoned not 

more than 1 year, or both; and shall be 
removed from office or employment.’’ 

(c) At the commencement of an in-
spection, the employer may identify 
areas in the establishment which con-
tain or which might reveal a trade se-
cret. If the Compliance Safety and 
Health Officer has no clear reason to 
question such identification, informa-
tion obtained in such areas, including 
all negatives and prints of photo-
graphs, and environmental samples, 
shall be labeled ‘‘confidential—trade 
secret’’ and shall not be disclosed ex-
cept in accordance with the provisions 
of section 15 of the Act. 

(d) Upon the request of an employer, 
any authorized representative of em-
ployees under § 1903.8 in an area con-
taining trade secrets shall be an em-
ployee in that area or an employee au-
thorized by the employer to enter that 
area. Where there is no such represent-
ative or employee, the Compliance 
Safety and Health Officer shall consult 
with a reasonable number of employees 
who work in that area concerning mat-
ters of safety and health. 

§ 1903.10 Consultation with employees. 
Compliance Safety and Health Offi-

cers may consult with employees con-
cerning matters of occupational safety 
and health to the extent they deem 
necessary for the conduct of an effec-
tive and thorough inspection. During 
the course of an inspection, any em-
ployee shall be afforded an opportunity 
to bring any violation of the Act which 
he has reason to believe exists in the 
workplace to the attention of the Com-
pliance Safety and Health Officer. 

§ 1903.11 Complaints by employees. 
(a) Any employee or representative of 

employees who believe that a violation 
of the Act exists in any workplace 
where such employee is employed may 
request an inspection of such work-
place by giving notice of the alleged 
violation to the Area Director or to a 
Compliance Safety and Health Officer. 
Any such notice shall be reduced to 
writing, shall set forth with reasonable 
particularity the grounds for the no-
tice, and shall be signed by the em-
ployee or representative of employees. 
A copy shall be provided the employer 
or his agent by the Area Director or 
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Compliance Safety and Health Officer 
no later than at the time of inspection, 
except that, upon the request of the 
person giving such notice, his name 
and the names of individual employees 
referred to therein shall not appear in 
such copy or on any record published, 
released, or made available by the De-
partment of Labor. 

(b) If upon receipt of such notifica-
tion the Area Director determines that 
the complaint meets the requirements 
set forth in paragraph (a) of this sec-
tion, and that there are reasonable 
grounds to believe that the alleged vio-
lation exists, he shall cause an inspec-
tion to be made as soon as practicable, 
to determine if such alleged violation 
exists. Inspections under this section 
shall not be limited to matters referred 
to in the complaint. 

(c) Prior to or during any inspection 
of a workplace, any employee or rep-
resentative of employees employed in 
such workplace may notify the Compli-
ance Safety and Health Officer, in writ-
ing, of any violation of the Act which 
they have reason to believe exists in 
such workplace. Any such notice shall 
comply with the requirements of para-
graph (a) of this section. 

(d) Section 11(c)(1) of the Act pro-
vides: ‘‘No person shall discharge or in 
any manner discriminate against any 
employee because such employee has 
filed any complaint or instituted or 
caused to be instituted any proceeding 
under or related to this Act or has tes-
tified or is about to testify in any such 
proceeding or because of the exercise 
by such employee on behalf of himself 
or others of any right afforded by this 
Act.’’ 

(Approved by the Office of Management and 
Budget under control number 1218–0064) 

[36 FR 17850, Sept. 4, 1973, as amended at 54 
FR 24333, June 7, 1989] 

§ 1903.12 Inspection not warranted; in-
formal review. 

(a) If the Area Director determines 
that an inspection is not warranted be-
cause there are no reasonable grounds 
to believe that a violation or danger 
exists with respect to a complaint 
under § 1903.11, he shall notify the com-
plaining party in writing of such deter-
mination. The complaining party may 
obtain review of such determination by 

submitting a written statement of po-
sition with the Assistant Regional Di-
rector and, at the same time, providing 
the employer with a copy of such state-
ment by certified mail. The employer 
may submit an opposing written state-
ment of position with the Assistant Re-
gional Director and, at the same time, 
provide the complaining party with a 
copy of such statement by certified 
mail. Upon the request of the com-
plaining party or the employer, the As-
sistant Regional Director, at his dis-
cretion, may hold an informal con-
ference in which the complaining party 
and the employer may orally present 
their views. After considering all writ-
ten and oral views presented, the As-
sistant Regional Director shall affirm, 
modify, or reverse the determination of 
the Area Director and furnish the com-
plaining party and the employer and 
written notification of this decision 
and the reasons therefor. The decision 
of the Assistant Regional Director 
shall be final and not subject to further 
review. 

(b) If the Area Director determines 
that an inspection is not warranted be-
cause the requirements of § 1903.11(a) 
have not been met, he shall notify the 
complaining party in writing of such 
determination. Such determination 
shall be without prejudice to the filing 
of a new complaint meeting the re-
quirements of § 1903.11(a). 

§ 1903.13 Imminent danger. 
Whenever and as soon as a Compli-

ance Safety and Health Officer con-
cludes on the basis of an inspection 
that conditions or practices exist in 
any place of employment which could 
reasonably be expected to cause death 
or serious physical harm immediately 
or before the imminence of such danger 
can be eliminated through the enforce-
ment procedures otherwise provided by 
the Act, he shall inform the affected 
employees and employers of the danger 
and that he is recommending a civil ac-
tion to restrain such conditions or 
practices and for other appropriate re-
lief in accordance with the provisions 
of section 13(a) of the Act. Appropriate 
citations and notices of proposed pen-
alties may be issued with respect to an 
imminent danger even though, after 
being informed of such danger by the 
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Compliance Safety and Health Officer, 
the employer immediately eliminates 
the imminence of the danger and initi-
ates steps to abate such danger. 

§ 1903.14 Citations; notices of de mini-
mis violations; policy regarding em-
ployee rescue activities. 

(a) The Area Director shall review 
the inspection report of the Compli-
ance Safety and Health Officer. If, on 
the basis of the report the Area Direc-
tor believes that the employer has vio-
lated a requirement of section 5 of the 
Act, of any standard, rule or order pro-
mulgated pursuant to section 6 of the 
Act, or of any substantive rule pub-
lished in this chapter, he shall, if ap-
propriate, consult with the Regional 
Solicitor, and he shall issue to the em-
ployer either a citation or a notice of 
de minimis violations which have no 
direct or immediate relationship to 
safety or health. An appropriate cita-
tion or notice of de minimis violations 
shall be issued even though after being 
informed of an alleged violation by the 
Compliance Safety and Health Officer, 
the employer immediately abates, or 
initiates steps to abate, such alleged 
violation. Any citation or notice of de 
minimis violations shall be issued with 
reasonable promptness after termi-
nation of the inspection. No citation 
may be issued under this section after 
the expiration of 6 months following 
the occurrence of any alleged viola-
tion. 

(b) Any citation shall describe with 
particularity the nature of the alleged 
violation, including a reference to the 
provision(s) of the Act, standard, rule, 
regulation, or order alleged to have 
been violated. Any citation shall also 
fix a reasonable time or times for the 
abatement of the alleged violation. 

(c) If a citation or notice of de mini-
mis violations is issued for a violation 
alleged in a request for inspection 
under § 1903.11(a) or a notification of 
violation under § 1903.11(c), a copy of 
the citation or notice of de minimis 
violations shall also be sent to the em-
ployee or representative of employees 
who made such request or notification. 

(d) After an inspection, if the Area 
Director determines that a citation is 
not warranted with respect to a danger 
or violation alleged to exist in a re-

quest for inspection under § 1903.11(a) or 
a notification of violation under 
§ 1903.11(c), the informal review proce-
dures prescribed in § 1903.12(a) shall be 
applicable. After considering all views 
presented, the Assistant Regional Di-
rector shall affirm the determination 
of the Area Director, order a reinspec-
tion, or issue a citation if he believes 
that the inspection disclosed a viola-
tion. The Assistant Regional Director 
shall furnish the complaining party 
and the employer with written notifi-
cation of his determination and the 
reasons therefor. The determination of 
the Assistant Regional Director shall 
be final and not subject to review. 

(e) Every citation shall state that the 
issuance of a citation does not con-
stitute a finding that a violation of the 
Act has occurred unless there is a fail-
ure to contest as provided for in the 
Act or, if contested, unless the citation 
is affirmed by the Review Commission. 

(f) No citation may be issued to an 
employer because of a rescue activity 
undertaken by an employee of that em-
ployer with respect to an individual in 
imminent danger unless: 

(1)(i) Such employee is designated or 
assigned by the employer to have re-
sponsibility to perform or assist in res-
cue operations, and 

(ii) The employer fails to provide pro-
tection of the safety and health of such 
employee, including failing to provide 
appropriate training and rescue equip-
ment; or 

(2)(i) Such employee is directed by 
the employer to perform rescue activi-
ties in the course of carrying out the 
employee’s job duties, and 

(ii) The employer fails to provide pro-
tection of the safety and health of such 
employee, including failing to provide 
appropriate training and rescue equip-
ment; or 

(3)(i) Such employee is employed in a 
workplace that requires the employee 
to carry out duties that are directly re-
lated to a workplace operation where 
the likelihood of life-threatening acci-
dents is foreseeable, such as a work-
place operation where employees are 
located in confined spaces or trenches, 
handle hazardous waste, respond to 
emergency situations, perform exca-
vations, or perform construction over 
water; and 
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(ii) Such employee has not been des-
ignated or assigned to perform or assist 
in rescue operations and voluntarily 
elects to rescue such an individual; and 

(iii) The employer has failed to in-
struct employees not designated or as-
signed to perform or assist in rescue 
operations of the arrangements for res-
cue, not to attempt rescue, and of the 
hazards of attempting rescue without 
adequate training or equipment. 

(4) For purposes of this policy, the 
term ‘‘imminent danger’’ means the ex-
istence of any condition or practice 
that could reasonably be expected to 
cause death or serious physical harm 
before such condition or practice can 
be abated. 

[36 FR 17850, Sept. 4, 1971, as amended at 59 
FR 66613, Dec. 27, 1994] 

§ 1903.14a Petitions for modification of 
abatement date. 

(a) An employer may file a petition 
for modification of abatement date 
when he has made a good faith effort to 
comply with the abatement require-
ments of a citation, but such abate-
ment has not been completed because 
of factors beyond his reasonable con-
trol. 

(b) A petition for modification of 
abatement date shall be in writing and 
shall include the following informa-
tion: 

(1) All steps taken by the employer, 
and the dates of such action, in an ef-
fort to achieve compliance during the 
prescribed abatement period. 

(2) The specific additional abatement 
time necessary in order to achieve 
compliance. 

(3) The reasons such additional time 
is necessary, including the unavail-
ability of professional or technical per-
sonnel or of materials and equipment, 
or because necessary construction or 
alteration of facilities cannot be com-
pleted by the original abatement date. 

(4) All available interim steps being 
taken to safeguard the employees 
against the cited hazard during the 
abatement period. 

(5) A certification that a copy of the 
petition has been posted and, if appro-
priate, served on the authorized rep-
resentative of affected employees, in 
accordance with paragraph (c)(1) of this 
section and a certification of the date 

upon which such posting and service 
was made. 

(c) A petition for modification of 
abatement date shall be filed with the 
Area Director of the United States De-
partment of Labor who issued the cita-
tion no later than the close of the next 
working day following the date on 
which abatement was originally re-
quired. A later-filed petition shall be 
accompanied by the employer’s state-
ment of exceptional circumstances ex-
plaining the delay. 

(1) A copy of such petition shall be 
posted in a conspicuous place where all 
affected employees will have notice 
thereof or near such location where the 
violation occurred. The petition shall 
remain posted for a period of ten (10) 
working days. Where affected employ-
ees are represented by an authorized 
representative, said representative 
shall be served with a copy of such pe-
tition. 

(2) Affected employees or their rep-
resentatives may file an objection in 
writing to such petition with the afore-
said Area Director. Failure to file such 
objection within ten (10) working days 
of the date of posting of such petition 
or of service upon an authorized rep-
resentative shall constitute a waiver of 
any further right to object to said peti-
tion. 

(3) The Secretary or his duly author-
ized agent shall have the authority to 
approve any petition for modification 
of abatement date filed pursuant to 
paragraphs (b) and (c) of this section. 
Such uncontested petitions shall be-
come final orders pursuant to sections 
10 (a) and (c) of the Act. 

(4) The Secretary or his authorized 
representative shall not exercise his 
approval power until the expiration of 
fifteen (15) working days from the date 
the petition was posted or served pur-
suant to paragraphs (c) (1) and (2) of 
this section by the employer. 

(d) Where any petition is objected to 
by the Secretary or affected employ-
ees, the petition, citation, and any ob-
jections shall be forwarded to the Com-
mission within three (3) working days 
after the expiration of the fifteen (15) 
day period set out in paragraph (c)(4) of 
this section. 

[40 FR 6334, Feb. 11, 1975; 40 FR 11351, Mar. 11, 
1975] 
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§ 1903.15 Proposed penalties. 
(a) After, or concurrent with, the 

issuance of a citation, and within a 
reasonable time after the termination 
of the inspection, the Area Director 
shall notify the employer by certified 
mail or by personal service by the 
Compliance Safety and Health Officer 
of the proposed penalty in accordance 
with paragraph (d) of this section, or 
that no penalty is being proposed. Any 
notice of proposed penalty shall state 
that the proposed penalty shall be 
deemed to be the final order of the Re-
view Commission and not subject to re-
view by any court or agency unless, 
within 15 working days from the date 
of receipt of such notice, the employer 
notifies the Area Director in writing 
that he intends to contest the citation 
or the notification of proposed penalty 
before the Review Commission. 

(b) The Area Director shall determine 
the amount of any proposed penalty, 
giving due consideration to the appro-
priateness of the penalty with respect 
to the size of the business of the em-
ployer being charged, the gravity of 
the violation, the good faith of the em-
ployer, and the history of previous vio-
lations, in accordance with the provi-
sions of section 17 of the Act and para-
graph (d) of this section. 

(c) Appropriate penalties may be pro-
posed with respect to an alleged viola-
tion even though after being informed 
of such alleged violation by the Com-
pliance Safety and Health Officer, the 
employer immediately abates, or initi-
ates steps to abate, such alleged viola-
tion. Penalties shall not be proposed 
for de minimis violations which have 
no direct or immediate relationship to 
safety or health. 

(d) Adjusted civil monetary penalties. 
The adjusted civil penalties for pen-
alties proposed after January 15, 2024 
are as follows: 

(1) Willful violation. The penalty per 
willful violation under section 17(a) of 
the Act, 29 U.S.C. 666(a), shall not be 
less than $11,524 and shall not exceed 
$161,323. 

(2) Repeated violation. The penalty per 
repeated violation under section 17(a) 
of the Act, 29 U.S.C. 666(a), shall not 
exceed $161,323. 

(3) Serious violation. The penalty for a 
serious violation under section 17(b) of 

the Act, 29 U.S.C. 666(b), shall not ex-
ceed $16,131. 

(4) Other-than-serious violation. The 
penalty for an other-than-serious viola-
tion under section 17(c) of the Act, 29 
U.S.C. 666(c), shall not exceed $16,131. 

(5) Failure to correct violation. The 
penalty for a failure to correct a viola-
tion under section 17(d) of the Act, 29 
U.S.C. 666(d), shall not exceed $16,131 
per day. 

(6) Posting requirement violation. The 
penalty for a posting requirement vio-
lation under section 17(i) of the Act, 29 
U.S.C. 666(i), shall not exceed $16,131. 

[36 FR 17850, Sept. 4, 1971, as amended at 81 
FR 43453, July 1, 2016; 82 FR 5382, Jan. 18, 
2017; 83 FR 14, Jan. 2, 2018; 84 FR 219, Jan. 23, 
2019; 85 FR 2298, Jan. 15, 2020; 86 FR 2969, Jan. 
14, 2021; 87 FR 2336, Jan. 14, 2022; 88 FR 2217, 
Jan. 13, 2023; 89 FR 1817, Jan. 11, 2024] 

§ 1903.16 Posting of citations. 
(a) Upon receipt of any citation 

under the Act, the employer shall im-
mediately post such citation, or a copy 
thereof, unedited, at or near each place 
an alleged violation referred to in the 
citation occurred, except as provided 
below. Where, because of the nature of 
the employer’s operations, it is not 
practicable to post the citation at or 
near each place of alleged violation, 
such citation shall be posted, unedited, 
in a prominent place where it will be 
readily observable by all affected em-
ployees. For example, where employers 
are engaged in activities which are 
physically dispersed (see § 1903.2(b)), the 
citation may be posted at the location 
to which employees report each day. 
Where employees do not primarily 
work at or report to a single location 
(see § 1903.2(b)), the citation may be 
posted at the location from which the 
employees operate to carry out their 
activities. The employer shall take 
steps to ensure that the citation is not 
altered, defaced, or covered by other 
material. Notices of de minimis viola-
tions need not be posted. 

(b) Each citation, or a copy thereof, 
shall remain posted until the violation 
has been abated, or for 3 working days, 
whichever is later. The filing by the 
employer of a notice of intention to 
contest under § 1903.17 shall not affect 
his posting responsibility under this 
section unless and until the Review 
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Commission issues a final order 
vacating the citation. 

(c) An employer to whom a citation 
has been issued may post a notice in 
the same location where such citation 
is posted indicating that the citation is 
being contested before the Review 
Commission, and such notice may ex-
plain the reasons for such contest. The 
employer may also indicate that speci-
fied steps have been taken to abate the 
violation. 

(d) Any employer failing to comply 
with the provisions of paragraphs (a) 
and (b) of this section shall be subject 
to citation and penalty in accordance 
with § 1903.15(d). 

[36 FR 17850, Sept. 4, 1971, as amended at 81 
FR 43453, July 1, 2016] 

§ 1903.17 Employer and employee con-
tests before the Review Commis-
sion. 

(a) Any employer to whom a citation 
or notice of proposed penalty has been 
issued may, under section 10(a) of the 
Act, notify the Area Director in writ-
ing that he intends to contest such ci-
tation or proposed penalty before the 
Review Commission. Such notice of in-
tention to contest shall be postmarked 
within 15 working days of the receipt 
by the employer of the notice of pro-
posed penalty. Every notice of inten-
tion to contest shall specify whether it 
is directed to the citation or to the 
proposed penalty, or both. The Area Di-
rector shall immediately transmit such 
notice to the Review Commission in ac-
cordance with the rules of procedure 
prescribed by the Commission. 

(b) Any employee or representative of 
employees of an employer to whom a 
citation has been issued may, under 
section 10(c) of the Act, file a written 
notice with the Area Director alleging 
that the period of time fixed in the ci-
tation for the abatement of the viola-
tion is unreasonable. Such notice shall 
be postmarked within 15 working days 
of the receipt by the employer of the 
notice of proposed penalty or notice 
that no penalty is being proposed. The 
Area Director shall immediately trans-
mit such notice to the Review Commis-
sion in accordance with the rules of 
procedure prescribed by the Commis-
sion. 

§ 1903.18 Failure to correct a violation 
for which a citation has been 
issued. 

(a) If an inspection discloses that an 
employer has failed to correct an al-
leged violation for which a citation has 
been issued within the period per-
mitted for its correction, the Area Di-
rector shall, if appropriate, consult 
with the Regional Solicitor, and he 
shall notify the employer by certified 
mail or by personal service by the 
Compliance Safety and Health Officer 
of such failure and of the additional 
penalty proposed under § 1903.15(d)(5) by 
reason of such failure. The period for 
the correction of a violation for which 
a citation has been issued shall not 
begin to run until the entry of a final 
order of the Review Commission in the 
case of any review proceedings initi-
ated by the employer in good faith and 
not solely for delay or avoidance of 
penalties. 

(b) Any employer receiving a notifi-
cation of failure to correct a violation 
and of proposed additional penalty 
may, under section 10(b) of the Act, no-
tify the Area Director in writing that 
he intends to contest such notification 
or proposed additional penalty before 
the Review Commission. Such notice of 
intention to contest shall be post-
marked within 15 working days of the 
receipt by the employer of the notifica-
tion of failure to correct a violation 
and of proposed additional penalty. The 
Area Director shall immediately trans-
mit such notice to the Review Commis-
sion in accordance with the rules of 
procedure prescribed by the Commis-
sion. 

(c) Each notification of failure to 
correct a violation and of proposed ad-
ditional penalty shall state that it 
shall be deemed to be the final order of 
the Review Commission and not sub-
ject to review by any court or agency 
unless, within 15 working days from 
the date of receipt of such notification, 
the employer notifies the Area Direc-
tor in writing that he intends to con-
test the notification or the proposed 
additional penalty before the Review 
Commission. 

[36 FR 17850, Sept. 4, 1971, as amended at 81 
FR 43453, July 1, 2016] 
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§ 1903.19 Abatement verification. 
Purpose. OSHA’s inspections are in-

tended to result in the abatement of 
violations of the Occupational Safety 
and Health Act of 1970 (the OSH Act). 
This section sets forth the procedures 
OSHA will use to ensure abatement. 
These procedures are tailored to the 
nature of the violation and the employ-
er’s abatement actions. 

(a) Scope and application. This section 
applies to employers who receive a ci-
tation for a violation of the Occupa-
tional Safety and Health Act. 

(b) Definitions—(1) Abatement means 
action by an employer to comply with 
a cited standard or regulation or to 
eliminate a recognized hazard identi-
fied by OSHA during an inspection. 

(2) Abatement date means: 
(i) For an uncontested citation item, 

the later of: 
(A) The date in the citation for 

abatement of the violation; 
(B) The date approved by OSHA or es-

tablished in litigation as a result of a 
petition for modification of the abate-
ment date (PMA); or 

(C) The date established in a citation 
by an informal settlement agreement. 

(ii) For a contested citation item for 
which the Occupational Safety and 
Health Review Commission (OSHRC) 
has issued a final order affirming the 
violation, the later of: 

(A) The date identified in the final 
order for abatement; or 

(B) The date computed by adding the 
period allowed in the citation for 
abatement to the final order date; 

(C) The date established by a formal 
settlement agreement. 

(3) Affected employees means those 
employees who are exposed to the haz-
ard(s) identified as violation(s) in a ci-
tation. 

(4) Final order date means: 
(i) For an uncontested citation item, 

the fifteenth working day after the em-
ployer’s receipt of the citation; 

(ii) For a contested citation item: 
(A) The thirtieth day after the date 

on which a decision or order of a com-
mission administrative law judge has 
been docketed with the commission, 
unless a member of the commission has 
directed review; or 

(B) Where review has been directed, 
the thirtieth day after the date on 

which the Commission issues its deci-
sion or order disposing of all or perti-
nent part of a case; or 

(C) The date on which a federal ap-
peals court issues a decision affirming 
the violation in a case in which a final 
order of OSHRC has been stayed. 

(5) Movable equipment means a hand- 
held or non-hand-held machine or de-
vice, powered or unpowered, that is 
used to do work and is moved within or 
between worksites. 

(c) Abatement certification. (1) Within 
10 calendar days after the abatement 
date, the employer must certify to 
OSHA (the Agency) that each cited vio-
lation has been abated, except as pro-
vided in paragraph (c)(2) of this sec-
tion. 

(2) The employer is not required to 
certify abatement if the OSHA Compli-
ance Officer, during the on-site portion 
of the inspection: 

(i) Observes, within 24 hours after a 
violation is identified, that abatement 
has occurred; and 

(ii) Notes in the citation that abate-
ment has occurred. 

(3) The employer’s certification that 
abatement is complete must include, 
for each cited violation, in addition to 
the information required by paragraph 
(h) of this section, the date and method 
of abatement and a statement that af-
fected employees and their representa-
tives have been informed of the abate-
ment. 

NOTE TO PARAGRAPH (c): Appendix A con-
tains a sample Abatement Certification Let-
ter. 

(d) Abatement documentation. (1) The 
employer must submit to the Agency, 
along with the information on abate-
ment certification required by para-
graph (c)(3) of this section, documents 
demonstrating that abatement is com-
plete for each willful or repeat viola-
tion and for any serious violation for 
which the Agency indicates in the cita-
tion that such abatement documenta-
tion is required. 

(2) Documents demonstrating that 
abatement is complete may include, 
but are not limited to, evidence of the 
purchase or repair of equipment, photo-
graphic or video evidence of abate-
ment, or other written records. 

(e) Abatement plans. (1) The Agency 
may require an employer to submit an 

VerDate Sep<11>2014 13:59 Dec 16, 2024 Jkt 262121 PO 00000 Frm 00051 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Y:\SGML\262121.XXX 262121sk
er

se
y 

on
 D

S
K

4W
B

1R
N

3P
R

O
D

 w
ith

 C
F

R



42 

29 CFR Ch. XVII (7–1–24 Edition) § 1903.19 

abatement plan for each cited violation 
(except an other-than-serious viola-
tion) when the time permitted for 
abatement is more than 90 calendar 
days. If an abatement plan is required, 
the citation must so indicate. 

(2) The employer must submit an 
abatement plan for each cited violation 
within 25 calendar days from the final 
order date when the citation indicates 
that such a plan is required. The abate-
ment plan must identify the violation 
and the steps to be taken to achieve 
abatement, including a schedule for 
completing abatement and, where nec-
essary, how employees will be pro-
tected from exposure to the violative 
condition in the interim until abate-
ment is complete. 

NOTE TO PARAGRAPH (e): Appendix B con-
tains a Sample Abatement Plan form. 

(f) Progress reports. (1) An employer 
who is required to submit an abate-
ment plan may also be required to sub-
mit periodic progress reports for each 
cited violation. The citation must indi-
cate: 

(i) That periodic progress reports are 
required and the citation items for 
which they are required; 

(ii) The date on which an initial 
progress report must be submitted, 
which may be no sooner than 30 cal-
endar days after submission of an 
abatement plan; 

(iii) Whether additional progress re-
ports are required; and 

(iv) The date(s) on which additional 
progress reports must be submitted. 

(2) For each violation, the progress 
report must identify, in a single sen-
tence if possible, the action taken to 
achieve abatement and the date the ac-
tion was taken. 

NOTE TO PARAGRAPH (f): Appendix B con-
tains a Sample Progress Report form. 

(g) Employee notification. (1) The em-
ployer must inform affected employees 
and their representative(s) about 
abatement activities covered by this 
section by posting a copy of each docu-
ment submitted to the Agency or a 
summary of the document near the 
place where the violation occurred. 

(2) Where such posting does not effec-
tively inform employees and their rep-
resentatives about abatement activi-
ties (for example, for employers who 

have mobile work operations), the em-
ployer must: 

(i) Post each document or a summary 
of the document in a location where it 
will be readily observable by affected 
employees and their representatives; or 

(ii) Take other steps to communicate 
fully to affected employees and their 
representatives about abatement ac-
tivities. 

(3) The employer must inform em-
ployees and their representatives of 
their right to examine and copy all 
abatement documents submitted to the 
Agency. 

(i) An employee or an employee rep-
resentative must submit a request to 
examine and copy abatement docu-
ments within 3 working days of receiv-
ing notice that the documents have 
been submitted. 

(ii) The employer must comply with 
an employee’s or employee representa-
tive’s request to examine and copy 
abatement documents within 5 working 
days of receiving the request. 

(4) The employer must ensure that 
notice to employees and employee rep-
resentatives is provided at the same 
time or before the information is pro-
vided to the Agency and that abate-
ment documents are: 

(i) Not altered, defaced, or covered by 
other material; and 

(ii) Remain posted for three working 
days after submission to the Agency. 

(h) Transmitting abatement documents. 
(1) The employer must include, in each 
submission required by this section, 
the following information: 

(i) The employer’s name and address; 
(ii) The inspection number to which 

the submission relates; 
(iii) The citation and item numbers 

to which the submission relates; 
(iv) A statement that the informa-

tion submitted is accurate; and 
(v) The signature of the employer or 

the employer’s authorized representa-
tive. 

(2) The date of postmark is the date 
of submission for mailed documents. 
For documents transmitted by other 
means, the date the Agency receives 
the document is the date of submis-
sion. 

(i) Movable equipment. (1) For serious, 
repeat, and willful violations involving 
movable equipment, the employer 
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must attach a warning tag or a copy of 
the citation to the operating controls 
or to the cited component of equipment 
that is moved within the worksite or 
between worksites. 

NOTE TO PARAGRAPH (i)(1): Attaching a 
copy of the citation to the equipment is 
deemed by OSHA to meet the tagging re-
quirement of paragraph (i)(1) of this section 
as well as the posting requirement of 29 CFR 
1903.16. 

(2) The employer must use a warning 
tag that properly warns employees 
about the nature of the violation in-
volving the equipment and identifies 
the location of the citation issued. 

NOTE TO PARAGRAPH (i)(2): Non-Mandatory 
Appendix C contains a sample tag that em-
ployers may use to meet this requirement. 

(3) If the violation has not already 
been abated, a warning tag or copy of 
the citation must be attached to the 
equipment: 

(i) For hand-held equipment, imme-
diately after the employer receives the 
citation; or 

(ii) For non-hand-held equipment, 
prior to moving the equipment within 
or between worksites. 

(4) For the construction industry, a 
tag that is designed and used in accord-
ance with 29 CFR 1926.20(b)(3) and 29 
CFR 1926.200(h) is deemed by OSHA to 
meet the requirements of this section 
when the information required by para-
graph (i)(2) is included on the tag. 

(5) The employer must assure that 
the tag or copy of the citation attached 
to movable equipment is not altered, 
defaced, or covered by other material. 

(6) The employer must assure that 
the tag or copy of the citation attached 
to movable equipment remains at-
tached until: 

(i) The violation has been abated and 
all abatement verification documents 
required by this regulation have been 
submitted to the Agency; 

(ii) The cited equipment has been 
permanently removed from service or 
is no longer within the employer’s con-
trol; or 

(iii) The Commission issues a final 
order vacating the citation. 

APPENDICES TO § 1903.19—ABATEMENT 
VERIFICATION 

NOTE: Appendices A through C provide in-
formation and nonmandatory guidelines to 

assist employers and employees in com-
plying with the appropriate requirements of 
this section. 

APPENDIX A TO SECTION 1903.19—SAMPLE 
ABATEMENT-CERTIFICATION LETTER (NON-
MANDATORY) 

(Name), Area Director 
U. S. Department of Labor—OSHA 
Address of the Area Office (on the citation) 
[Company’s Name] 
[Company’s Address] 

The hazard referenced in Inspection Num-
ber [insert 9-digit #] for violation identified 
as: 
Citation [insert #] and item [insert #] was 
corrected on [insert date] by: 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

Citation [insert #] and item [insert #] was 
corrected on [insert date] by: 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

Citation [insert #] and item [insert #] was 
corrected on [insert date] by: 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

Citation [insert #] and item [insert #] was 
corrected on [insert date] by: 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

Citation [insert #] and item [insert #] was 
corrected on [insert date] by: 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

Citation [insert #] and item [insert #] was 
corrected on [insert date] by: 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

Citation [insert #] and item [insert #] was 
corrected on insert date by: 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

Citation [insert #] and item [insert #] was 
corrected on [insert date] by: 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

I attest that the information contained in 
this document is accurate. 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

Signature 
llllllllllllllllllllllll

Typed or Printed Name 

APPENDIX B TO SECTION 1903.19—SAMPLE 
ABATEMENT PLAN OR PROGRESS REPORT 
(NONMANDATORY) 

(Name), Area Director 
U. S. Department of Labor—OSHA 
Address of Area Office (on the citation) 
[Company’s Name] 
[Company’s Address] 
Check one: 

Abatement Plan [ ] 
Progress Report [ ] 

Inspection Number lllllllllllll

Page __ of ____ 
Citation Number(s)* llllllllllll
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Item Number(s)* llllllllllllll

Action 

Proposed 
Comple-

tion Date 
(for 

abate-
ment 
plans 
only) 

Comple-
tion Date 

(for 
progress 
reports 
only) 

1. ........................................... ............... ...............
...............................................
...............................................
2. ........................................... ............... ...............
...............................................
...............................................
3. ........................................... ............... ...............
...............................................
...............................................
4. ........................................... ............... ...............
...............................................
............................................... ............... ...............
5. ........................................... ............... ...............
...............................................
............................................... ............... ...............
6. ........................................... ............... ...............
...............................................
............................................... ............... ...............
7. ........................................... ............... ...............
...............................................

Date required for final abatement: lllll

I attest that the information contained in 
this document is accurate. 

llllllllllllllllllllllll

Signature 

llllllllllllllllllllllll

Typed or Printed Name 

Name of primary point of contact for ques-
tions: [optional] 
Telephone number: lllllllllllll

*Abatement plans or progress reports for 
more than one citation item may be com-
bined in a single abatement plan or progress 
report if the abatement actions, proposed 
completion dates, and actual completion 
dates (for progress reports only) are the 
same for each of the citation items. 
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APPENDIX C TO SECTION 1903.19—SAMPLE WARNING TAG (NONMANDATORY) 

[62 FR 15337, Mar. 31, 1997] 

§ 1903.20 Informal conferences. 

At the request of an affected em-
ployer, employee, or representative of 
employees, the Assistant Regional Di-
rector may hold an informal con-

ference for the purpose of discussing 
any issues raised by an inspection, ci-
tation, notice of proposed penalty, or 
notice of intention to contest. The set-
tlement of any issue at such conference 
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shall be subject to the rules of proce-
dure prescribed by the Review Commis-
sion. If the conference is requested by 
the employer, an affected employee or 
his representative shall be afforded an 
opportunity to participate, at the dis-
cretion of the Assistant Regional Di-
rector. If the conference is requested 
by an employee or representative of 
employees, the employer shall be af-
forded an opportunity to participate, 
at the discretion of the Assistant Re-
gional Director. Any party may be rep-
resented by counsel at such conference. 
No such conference or request for such 
conference shall operate as a stay of 
any 15-working-day period for filing a 
notice of intention to contest as pre-
scribed in § 1903.17. 

[36 FR 17850, Sept. 4, 1971. Redesignated at 62 
FR 15337, Mar. 31, 1997] 

§ 1903.21 State administration. 

Nothing in this part 1903 shall pre-
empt the authority of any State to 
conduct inspections, to initiate en-
forcement proceedings or otherwise to 
implement the applicable provisions of 
State law with respect to State occupa-
tional safety and health standards in 
accordance with agreements and plans 
under section 18 of the Act and parts 
1901 and 1902 of this chapter. 

[36 FR 17850, Sept. 4, 1971. Redesignated at 62 
FR 15337, Mar. 31, 1997] 

§ 1903.22 Definitions. 

(a) Act means the Williams-Steiger 
Occupational Safety and Health Act of 
1970. (84 Stat. 1590 et seq., 29 U.S.C. 651 
et seq.) 

(b) The definitions and interpreta-
tions contained in section 3 of the Act 
shall be applicable to such terms when 
used in this part 1903. 

(c) Working days means Mondays 
through Fridays but shall not include 
Saturdays, Sundays, or Federal holi-
days. In computing 15 working days, 
the day of receipt of any notice shall 
not be included, and the last day of the 
15 working days shall be included. 

(d) Compliance Safety and Health Offi-
cer means a person authorized by the 
Occupational Safety and Health Ad-
ministration, U.S. Department of 
Labor, to conduct inspections. 

(e) Area Director means the employee 
or officer regularly or temporarily in 
charge of an Area Office of the Occupa-
tional Safety and Health Administra-
tion, U.S. Department of Labor, or any 
other person or persons who are au-
thorized to act for such employee or of-
ficer. The latter authorizations may in-
clude general delegations of the au-
thority of an Area Director under this 
part to a Compliance Safety and 
Health Officer or delegations to such 
an officer for more limited purposes, 
such as the exercise of the Area Direc-
tor’s duties under § 1903.14(a). The term 
also includes any employee or officer 
exercising supervisory responsibilities 
over an Area Director. A supervisory 
employee or officer is considered to ex-
ercise concurrent authority with the 
Area Director. 

(f) Assistant Regional Director means 
the employee or officer regularly or 
temporarily in charge of a Region of 
the Occupational Safety and Health 
Administration, U.S. Department of 
Labor, or any other person or persons 
who are specifically designated to act 
for such employee or officer in his ab-
sence. The term also includes any em-
ployee or officer in the Occupational 
Safety and Health Administration ex-
ercising supervisory responsibilities 
over the Assistant Regional Director. 
Such supervisory employee or officer is 
considered to exercise concurrent au-
thority with the Assistant Regional Di-
rector. No delegation of authority 
under this paragraph shall adversely 
affect the procedures for independent 
informal review of investigative deter-
minations prescribed under § 1903.12 of 
this part. 

(g) Inspection means any inspection of 
an employer’s factory, plant, establish-
ment, construction site, or other area, 
workplace or environment where work 
is performed by an employee of an em-
ployer, and includes any inspection 
conducted pursuant to a complaint 
filed under § 1903.11 (a) and (c), any re-
inspection, followup inspection, acci-
dent investigation or other inspection 
conducted under section 8(a) of the 
Act. 

[36 FR 17850, Sept. 4, 1971, as amended at 38 
FR 22624, Aug. 23, 1973. Redesignated at 62 FR 
15337, Mar. 31, 1997] 
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